THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2020-001525

---

JAMES EARL TEGELER,

Appellant,

v.

CHARLOTTE COLLIER,  
HANNAH ELIZABETH  
COLLIER, LINDA SMITH,  
NORTHGATE BAPTIST  
CHURCH,

Respondents.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

DICKSON DAVIS LAW FIRM, LLC

Deborah D. Davis, Esq.  
SC Bar No.: 102942  
310 Rutherford Street  
Greenville, SC 29609  
(864) 729-3428 t  
(864) 752-1424 f  
d.davis@dicksondavislaw.com  
www.dicksondavislaw.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**RECEIVED**  
**Sep 02 2021**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

##

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **Whether the lower court erred granting a motion to dismiss Appellant's Complaint when the factual allegations in Appellant's Complaint were sufficient to form a cause of action for the following causes of action:**
  - a. **Defamation**
  - b. **Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress**
  - c. **Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress**
  - d. **False Imprisonment**
  - e. **Fraud in the Inducement**
  - f. **Negligent Misrepresentation**
  - g. **Negligent Hiring, Supervision, and Retention of Employees**
  - h. **Wrongful Termination**
  
- II. **Whether the lower court erred granting a summary judgment when a genuine dispute of facts existed for the following causes of action:**
  - a. **False Imprisonment**
  - b. **Defamation**
  - c. **Fraud in the Inducement**
  - d. **Negligent Misrepresentation**
  - e. **Negligent Hiring, Supervision, and Retention of Employees**
  - f. **Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress**
  - g. **Wrongful Termination**
  
- III. **Whether the lower court erred dismissing Appellant's Complaint when a severance agreement did not bar Appellant's claims at the time of signing the document and afterward related to the following causes of action:**
  - a. **Defamation**
  - b. **Fraud in the Inducement**
  - c. **Negligent Misrepresentation**
  - d. **Negligent Hiring, Supervision, and Retention of Employees**
  - e. **Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress**
  - f. **Wrongful Termination**
  
- IV. **Whether the lower court erred denying Appellant the opportunity to amend Appellant's Complaint when granting a motion for judgment on the pleadings.**
  
- V. **Whether the trial court erred denying a motion to reconsider based on Respondents' misconduct under Rule 60 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant James Earl Tegeler (“Appellant”) sued Respondents Charlotte Collier (“Mother”), Hannah Elizabeth Collier (“Hannah”), Linda Smith (“Grandmother”), and Northgate Baptist Church (“Northgate”) after James, who was employed as the director of the music program at Northgate, was fired from Northgate (R. pp. 62, 66-71, 118, 132). James requested a jury trial and pled the following causes of action: (1) false imprisonment against Northgate; (2) defamation against all respondents; (3) fraud in the inducement against Northgate; (4) negligent misrepresentation against Northgate; (5) negligent hiring, supervision, and retention of employees against Northgate; (6) intentional infliction of emotional distress against all respondents; (7) negligent infliction of emotional distress against all respondents; (8) wrongful termination against Northgate; and, (9) civil conspiracy against all respondents. (R. pp. 72-82). Northgate responded with a motion to dismiss and a memorandum in support of its motion to dismiss that James’s claims against Northgate were barred at the time of executing a severance agreement during James’s termination from Northgate. (R. pp. 200-201, 212-213, 215-216).

Hannah, Hannah’s mother, and Hannah’s grandmother filed an amended answer that denied James’s material allegations and asserted the following affirmative defenses: (1) their accusation of James having an inappropriate relationship with Hannah was true; (2) James could not prove damages from harm to his reputation because of the alleged defamatory statement; (3) James was responsible for the publication of the alleged defamatory statement; (4) James’s claim for special damages was barred because the alleged defamatory statement was not defamatory per se; (5) James’s claim for defamation was barred because their publication of the alleged defamatory statement was a privileged communication; (6) James’s defamation claim was barred

because they acted without malice toward James; (7) waiver, laches, release, estoppel, and unclean hands; (8) failure to mitigate James's damages; (8) James is barred from punitive damages; and, (9) sanctions against James. (R. pp. 125-129, 136-139). Hannah, her mother, and her grandmother sought a motion for summary judgment on the pleadings. Rule 12(c), SCRPC. (R. pp. 208, 210, 227, 232-234, 243-245). Additionally, Hannah and her grandmother sought a motion to dismiss. Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC. (R. pp. 210, 243-247, 251-252). Furthermore, Hannah admitted that no sexual relations occurred between Hannah and James in her affidavit. (R. p. 433).

The Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr., heard all three motions. (R. pp. 196-198). Judge Kinlaw granted all three motions and dismissed James's case. (R. pp. 1, 4, 7, 10). James moved to reconsider and filed supporting affidavits pursuant to Rule 60 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. (R. pp. 352-354, 445-564). Judge Kinlaw issued three separate formal orders granting respondents' motion to dismiss and motion for judgment on the pleadings (R. pp. 13, 16, 21-24, 26-27, 29, 31-36, 38-39, 47). James amended his motion to reconsider. (R. p. 384). Judge Kinlaw denied that motion without a hearing. (R. pp. 50-51, 54-55, 58).

This appeal followed.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Context matters. Words matter. The sheer ludicrous behavior from three generations of women in the same family have set a chain of events in motion tarnishing the reputation of an upstanding widower, reporting baseless allegations to this man's employer that gets him fired, and turning that widower into a social pariah in the Christian community at best. Or, a sexual predator at worst. (R. pp. 62-72, 119-121, 128, 132-133, 167-169, 173, 194, 230-231, 243-245, 454-456, 472-475, 477-479). Hannah, her mother, and her grandmother reported James to Northgate that James had an "inappropriate relationship" with Hannah. (R. pp. 66-67, 133, 194, 230-231, 243-245, 433). They painted James as committing one of the worst, most morally reprehensible crimes that will forever haunt James and taint his reputation. (R. pp. 66-67, 72, 194, 473, 456, 480).

James was a salaried employee of Northgate as a director of the music program at Northgate being a gifted pianist, musician, and choir director. (R. pp. 62, 118, 132). Hannah's grandmother, who is also the mother of Hannah's mother, asked James to invite Hannah and have her sing at Northgate. (R. pp. 63, 119, 132). Hannah was a college student and of legal age when she began singing intermittently at Northgate in James's Worship Team, or informal choir. (R. pp. 63, 119, 132, 459-460). Hannah came from a broken home and experienced emotional instability and immaturity. (R. pp. 63-65, 455, 471-473, 479-480). Hannah's mother was usually present during practice and performances for the Worship Team that James directed when Hannah sang. (R. pp. 63, 65, 454-455, 459-460, 472). Hannah asked James to become her mentor. (R. pp. 63, 460, 482). The boundaries of this mentorship were clearly set and understood by both Hannah and James. (R. pp. 64, 482-483). Hannah and her mother usually left and

skipped the sermons because they did not like the pastor Dr. Barry Jimmerson at Northgate. (R. pp. 454, 485).

Over time, Hannah and her mother spent time with James in a group or family setting. (R. pp. 64, 445-446, 472, 482-483). Hannah's mother indicated a romantic interest in James to date. (R. pp. 65-66, 121-122, 447, 454-455, 461, 472-473, 480, 482). James, a widower and uninterested in dating, rejected Hannah's mother. (R. pp. 66, 472-473, 482). James then limited his interactions with Hannah, Hannah's mother, and Hannah's grandmother outside of work. (R. p. 66).

James hosted a family, social event outside of work that Hannah and her mother attended. (R. pp. 66, 120, 133, 484). This event triggered Northgate terminating James (R. pp. 66, 484-485). The next day, Hannah, her mother, and her grandmother knowingly reported James to his employer and supervisor Dr. Jimmerson at Northgate that James had an "inappropriate relationship" with Hannah. (R. pp. 66, 121, 128, 133, 433). Upon hearing the accusation "inappropriate relationship," Dr. Jimmerson immediately launched into questioning Hannah about any romantic or sexual involvement between James and Hannah. (R. pp. 66-67). The insidious language "inappropriate relationship" tracked all the way to Northgate's termination of James. Dr. Shaler, who oversaw the Personnel Committee at Northgate, was responsible for investigating the claims of Hannah, her mother, and her grandmother. (R. p. 68). Dr. Laurel Shaler then accused James of having inappropriate contact with young girls in the congregation to the personnel committee. (R. pp. 68-69). Laurel obtained a vote of no confidence to recommend that Northgate fire James. (R. p. 69).

Laurel's investigation and recommendation to terminate James from Northgate did not

follow Northgate’s policies and procedures. (R. pp. 67-68, 83-117, 477-480). Laurel held and directed the termination meeting with James along with Dr. Jimmerson, who was James’s supervisor, and Warren Peden. (R. pp. 69-70). Warren was just an ordinary member of the church who held no supervisory role over James and his performance at Northgate. (R. pp. 69, 461). Laurel, Dr. Jimmerson, and Warren were aggressive toward James right at the outset of the termination meeting. (R. p. 70). They shamed James. (R. p. 70). When Dr. Jimmerson and Warren heard “inappropriate contact”<sup>1</sup> and “inappropriate relationship”<sup>2</sup> earlier from Laurel, those accusations triggered them into shaming James for making unwanted touching or advances, whether sexual or romantic in nature, with Hannah or other young girls (of whom some were minors) in the congregation at Northgate. (R. pp. 66-68, 70).

---

<sup>1</sup> Inappropriate contact is commonly defined as sexual assault, or commonly referred to as a sex crime, that can also mean other synonyms such as inappropriate touching, sexual abuse, unwanted touching, and sexual harassment. *Inappropriate Contact Definition*, WORDHIPPO.COM, [https://www.wordhippo.com/what-is/another-word-for/inappropriate\\_contact.html#/](https://www.wordhippo.com/what-is/another-word-for/inappropriate_contact.html#/) (last visited on Apr. 12, 2021); *Sexual Assault Definition*, WORDHIPPO.COM, [https://www.wordhippo.com/what-is/another-word-for/sexual\\_assault.html](https://www.wordhippo.com/what-is/another-word-for/sexual_assault.html) (last visited on Apr. 12, 2021). “Touch [] refers to both intentional and unintentional person-to-person bodily contact, mediated either via the skin or more indirectly.” Lorraine Green, *The Trouble with Touch? New Insights and Observations on Touch for Social Work and Social Care*, 47 BRITISH J. SOC. WORK, no. 3, 2017, at 773, 774, available at <https://academic.oup.com/bjsw/article/47/3/773/2622329> (last visited on Apr. 12, 2021). “Sexual or physical violence, whether perpetrated by workers, family members or others, constitutes touch violation (bad touch).” Green, *supra*.

<sup>2</sup> The ordinary and popular meaning of an “inappropriate relationship” is commonly understood to mean a vulgar, or indecent, romantic or sexual involvement between two people in nature. Sociologists define “relationship” to include the meaning of a “[r]omantic or sexual involvement” between two persons. *Relationship Definition*, KENTON BELL, OPEN EDUCATION SOCIOLOGY DICTIONARY (2013-2021 ed. 2013), available at <https://sociologydictionary.org/relationship/> (last visited on Apr. 12, 2021) (emphasis added). Inappropriate is defined as “someone or something that is not within the bounds of what is considered appropriate or socially acceptable.” *Inappropriate Definition*, YOURDICTIONARY.COM, <https://www.yourdictionary.com/inappropriate> (last visited on Apr. 12, 2021). Inappropriate also refers to describing a person or thing as “[v]ulgar or indecent in nature or quality.” *Inappropriate Definition*, WORDHIPPO.COM, <https://www.wordhippo.com/what-is/another-word-for/inappropriate.html#/> (last visited on Apr. 12, 2021). Modern day popular language refers to the definition of inappropriate that has varied from “‘not suitable or proper in the circumstances’ [and] is used these days almost exclusively to mean anything that is sexually explicit, drug or alcohol related, violent, or otherwise obscene . . . [i]n the context of age in terms of children, rather than the traditional overall definition.” *Inappropriate Definition*, URBANDICTIONARY.COM, <https://www.urbandictionary.com/define.php?term=inappropriate&page=2> (last visited Apr. 12, 2021); cf. *Inappropriate Definition*, MERRIAM-WEBSTER.COM, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/inappropriate> (last visited on April 12, 2021).

As the basis for terminating James, Laurel then raised the allegation of James having “inappropriate contact” with young girls in the congregation in addition to having an “inappropriate relationship” with Hannah. (R. pp. 66-68, 70). They blindsided James. (R. pp. 67, 69-70). They denied James the opportunity to leave and seek legal advice before signing a severance agreement with Northgate. (R. pp. 70-71). They detained James. (R. pp. 69-71). Should James refuse to sign the severance agreement, Dr. Jimmerson threatened to have him placed before the congregation at Northgate like a social pariah for the congregation to decide whether James should be fired for having inappropriate contact and inappropriate relationships with young girls in the congregation, including Hannah. (R. pp. 70-71). James became emotionally distraught and overwhelmed. (R. p. 71).

Laurel formulated her investigation and recommendation that James had inappropriate contact and inappropriate relationships with young girls in the congregation based on the allegations made by Hannah, her mother, and her grandmother unrelated to James’s scope of employment with Northgate. (R. pp. 66-70). Both terminologies of inappropriate relationship and inappropriate contact are commonly understood to mean sex or sexual relations between two persons.<sup>3</sup> The former being consensual.<sup>4</sup> The latter being nonconsensual.<sup>5</sup> To illustrate, the

---

<sup>3</sup> See *supra* text accompanying notes 1, 2.

<sup>4</sup> Consent to a romantic or sexual relationship only occurs between two people who are the legal age of majority. See *supra* text accompanying note 2; see also Laura K. Murray, Ph.D, et al., *Child Sexual Abuse*, CHILD ADOLESC. PSYCHIATR. CLIN. N. AM., Apr. 2014, at 321-337, available at <https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4413451/pdf/nihms-666885.pdf> (last visited on Apr. 12, 2021) (“Because a legal age of majority is required for consent, all sexual acts between an adult and underage child (even with child assent) are, by definition, [Child Sexual Abuse].”).

<sup>5</sup> Nonconsensual touching of another refers to a sexual perpetrator making unwelcome and unwanted touching, sexual advances such as requests for sexual favors, or sexual abuse, for example, toward a victim. See *supra* text accompanying note 1; *Sexual Violence Definition*, WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION, <https://apps.who.int/violence-info/sexual-violence> (last visited on Apr. 12, 2021) (“Sexual violence is any sexual act, attempt to obtain a sexual act, or other act directed against a person’s sexuality using coercion, by any person regardless of their relationship to the victim, in any setting.”).

accusation of a man being in a relationship with a young woman who is “old enough to be her father” invokes the taboo<sup>6</sup> of incest that may invite suspicion.<sup>7</sup> (R. pp. 63, 66-70, 121, 128, 133, 167-169, 173, 227-230, 233-234, 243-245). This stigma<sup>8</sup> often blurs over into other examples such as alleging a teacher having a sexual relationship with a student that invokes scandal and social ruin resulting in ostracism, severe damage to one’s reputation, and reprimand as in the loss of a job.<sup>9</sup> By contrast, the stigma then carries the popular meaning of characterizing an older man having sexual relations with a minor, or sexually abusing a minor, that invokes association with illegal conduct such as incest, pedophilia, sexual abuse, or rape that is reprehensible, taboo, illegal, and subject to legal punishment.<sup>10</sup> Here, respondents transformed a stigma into one of the most reprehensible, taboo, and illegal conduct and projected it onto James similar to James being in a teacher role to Hannah as a student and minor.

Undeniably, the more serious consequences of social ruin or criminalization of conduct relate to sexual relations, whether voluntary or involuntary, between two persons. None of which occurred between James and Hannah. (R. pp. 67, 433). Yet, Hannah, her mother, and her

---

6 According to sociologists, inappropriate is related to the definition of taboo that is defined as “[a] forbidden act considered so offensive to norms, particularly mores (moral norms) as to be reviled and unthinkable.” *Taboo Definition*, KENTON BELL, OPEN EDUCATION SOCIOLOGY DICTIONARY (2013-2021 ed. 2013), *available at* <https://sociologydictionary.org/?s=inappropriate> (last visited on Apr. 12, 2021).

7 INAPPROPRIATE RELATIONSHIPS: THE UNCONVENTIONAL, THE DISAPPROVED, AND THE FORBIDDEN 13, 17 (Robin Goodwin & Duncan Cramer eds., 2005) [hereinafter INAPPROPRIATE RELATIONSHIPS].

8 A stigma is a learned behavior that is formed through social interactions creating shortcuts to cognitive associations through symbols, practices, or conduct for individuals to relate to one another in a society or a community. *See generally* Bernice A. Pescosolido et al., *Rethinking Theoretical Approaches to Stigma: A Framework Integrating Normative Influences on Stigma (FINIS)*, 67 SOC. SCI. MED. 3, Aug. 2008, at 431-440, *available at* <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2587424/> (discussing the role of stigma in society). A negative stigma usually results in exclusion by shame for members of society or community associated with that stigma. Richard H. McAdams, *The Origin, Development, and Regulation of Norms*, 96 MICH. L. REV. 338, 400-07 (1997). A powerful stigma may also arise from creating and reinforcing legislative schemes to reflect normative values as a means of social control. MATTHEW D. LIEBERMAN, SOCIAL: WHY OUR BRAINS ARE WIRED TO CONNECT 7-70 (2013) (exploring the complex cognitive associations behind humans experiencing stigma in relation to humans’ basic need for social interaction and the evolution of the human brain for social intelligence).

9 INAPPROPRIATE RELATIONSHIPS, *supra* note 7, at 18.

10 INAPPROPRIATE RELATIONSHIPS, *supra* note 7, at 19.

grandmother still knowingly accused James of the same “inappropriate relationship” terminology as a bald-faced lie while knowing that no sexual relations, whether voluntary or involuntary, occurred between James and Hannah. Moreover, Laurel still knowingly accused James of the same “inappropriate relationship” and “inappropriate contact” terminology while knowing that no sexual relations, whether voluntary or involuntary, occurred between James and Hannah. (R. pp. 66-67). Both Dr. Jimmerson, who changed from his earlier position, and Warren perceived this terminology that James was guilty of these accusations. (R. pp. 66-67, 70). Therefore, the severance agreement is a meaningless piece of paper under these circumstances. (R. pp. 69-71). Northgate used this pretext for firing James to save payroll costs on James as one of the highest paid employees at Northgate during a multi-million-dollar fundraising campaign for aesthetic renovations to Northgate. (R. pp. 62, 75, 326-336).

After James was fired from Northgate, Hannah’s grandmother contacted others outside of the congregation and re-published the same defamatory remarks that James had an “inappropriate relationship” with Hannah. (R. pp. 69, 73, 80, 471, 473-474, 479). Hannah’s grandmother was involved in the meeting when Hannah and Hannah’s mother reported James to his supervisor Dr. Jimmerson with Northgate. (R. pp. 230-231). Additionally, after James was fired from Northgate, Dr. Jimmerson and Warren also re-published defamatory statements to other third parties that James had an inappropriate relationship with Hannah and inappropriate relationship with teenagers respectively. (R. pp. 71, 73, 273-274, 350-351, 461-464).

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

#### **I. Motion to dismiss. Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF.**

A Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss a cause of action fails “if facts alleged and inferences

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