THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

**Sep 03 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2020-CP-23-01213  
Appellate Case No: 2020-001525

James Earl Tegeler.....Appellant

v.

Charlotte Collier, Hannah Elizabeth Collier, Linda Smith, Northgate Baptist  
Church..... Respondents

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENTS, HANNAH ELIZABETH COLLIER AND  
LINDA SMITH**

---

Daniel R. Hughes  
DUGGAN & HUGHES, LLC  
(SC Bar #72547)  
457-B Pennsylvania Avenue  
P. O. Box 449  
Greer, SC 29652-0449  
Telephone: (864) 334-2500  
Facsimile: (864) 879-0149

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

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED RESPONDENT HANNAH ELIZABETH COLLIER'S AND LINDA SMITH'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS PURSUANT TO RULE 12(C) BECAUSE APPELLANT'S COMPLAINT FAILS TO RAISE ANY ISSUES OF FACT THAT WOULD ENTITLE HIM TO RELIEF IF RESOLVED IN HIS FAVOR.**

The Appellant's asserted causes of action for (A) Defamation, (B) Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress, (C) Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress, and (D) Civil Conspiracy fail pursuant to Rule 12(c), SCRPC. Each cause of action fails under Rule 12(c), *SCRPC*.

### (A) Defamation

To recover for defamation, the Appellant must prove that there was: (1) a false and defamatory statement made; (2) the unprivileged publication was made to a third party; (3) the publisher was at fault; and (4) either actionability of the statement irrespective of special harm or the existence of special harm caused by the publication.” *Erickson v. Jones St. Publishers, L.L.C.*, 368 S.C. 444, 464, 629 S.E.2d 653, 664 (2006).

The allegations of Plaintiff’s Complaint fail to meet the elements of defamation. The statement was true and not defamatory; the statement was privileged; there was no fault in publishing the statement; and, the statement is not actionable itself or special harm caused by the publication.

Furthermore, Appellant’s allegations as to Smith were that she told unidentified third parties that Appellant had an inappropriate relationship with H. Collier. The Complaint fails to allege what Smith said, who the “hearers” of the statement(s) were, or that what Smith did caused any damage to Appellant.

### Opinion Statement

As an initial matter, the Court must address whether or not the Statement was fact or opinion. An opinion statement cannot be defamatory. Our courts have held that facts are statements that can be proven true or false; by contrast, opinions are matters of belief or ideas that cannot be proven one way or the other. Moreover, because a statement must be false to be defamatory, a statement of opinion cannot form the basis of a defamation claim because it cannot be proven true or false. Specifically, under the First Amendment, there is no such thing as a false idea. *Garrard v. Charleston Cty. Sch. Dist.*, 429 S.C. 170, 198, 838 S.E.2d 698, 713 (Ct. App. 2019).

H. Collier's and Smith's statement that they believed the relationship described in the Complaint between an 18 year old and 50+ year old worship leader to be inappropriate is an opinion. It can be neither true nor false and thus cannot form the basis of a defamation claim. Nevertheless, even if the statement were deemed to be factual, it does not qualify as a defamatory statement.

#### True Statement

If the Statement was not an opinion, then it was true. H. Collier's statement to Dr. Jimmerson and Smith's alleged statement to a third party that Plaintiff had an inappropriate relationship with her were true. As set forth above in Respondents' statement of facts, the following is a summary of what actions Appellant took pursuant to this so-called mentor relationship as described by the Complaint: (1) giving financial gifts and presents to H. Collier and her family (R. 62-63, ¶ 18, 31); (2) inviting H. Collier and her family to family gatherings and activities (R. 63, ¶ 31); (3) discussing with her deeply personal issues regarding her mental illness, self-development, self-esteem, self-perception, anger management, anxiety, separation anxiety, eating disorder, self-inflicting physical harm, coping with a previous sexual assault, and ongoing psychological treatment (R. 64, ¶ 38); (4) having others in the Church notice H. Collier being expressive and affectionate toward the Appellant. (R. 65, ¶ 42, 43); (5) attempting to "redirect" the anger of H. Collier (R. 65, ¶ 45); (6) receiving text messages from H. Collier "expressing daughterly affection" toward Appellant (R. 67, ¶ 64); and, (7) inviting H. Collier to a family birthday party and correcting a violation of Appellant's cell phone rules (R. 66, ¶ 59).

H. Collier filed an Affidavit on August 17, 2020 with attached text messages from the Appellant. These texts, along with the texts filed by the Appellant on August 28, 2020, provide

additional proof outside of the four (4) corners of the Complaint that the relationship was inappropriate. For example, Appellant texted H. Collier as follows:

Hey Princess. While I'm falling asleep I was thinking of you and how thankful I am to have you in my life....I love you so much and I can't wait for our first family Christmas together! You're a sweetie pie and a cutie pie all mixed into one amazing person. I'm so proud to have you in my life, and I can't get enough of ya!! I'll snap you in the Am! I love you my sweet, awesome Ninja Princess Daughter!!! (R. 435).

Here is my letter to wake up to, Princess (heart emoji) Btw, you fell asleep on my shoulder tonight which was really special to me. I can't tell you how much you mean to me. I had one of the best days of my life. I really enjoyed just getting to ride with you, and chat with you and laugh with you. I enjoyed that so much. And then to get to hold your hand, and go ice-skating, and eat dinner with your family, and have you fall asleep on my shoulder created some really special memories for me.... (R. 439).

Hannah. Princess. Sweetie Pie. I love you....I promise to never stop loving you. Ever. You are the sweetest, most precious thing that's ever happened in my life, other than my children being born. That's you baby girl. I hope you know how special you are to me. Sometimes I hold your blanket that here and close my eyes and smell your smell, and hope that when I open my eyes you are here. (R. 444).

Based upon the foregoing, and the texts from Appellant to H. Collier, the relationship was inappropriate and the statement was true.

#### Not a Defamatory Statement

The Statement does not qualify as a defamatory statement. A defamatory statement is (1) either defamatory *per se* or defamatory *per quod* and (2) actionable *per se* or not actionable *per se*. A defamatory statement *per se* has a defamatory meaning apparent on its face, and therefore, susceptible to only one meaning. A defamatory statement *per quod* has a defamatory meaning through referring to facts or circumstances beyond the statement itself or innuendo. *Parrish v. Allison*, 376 S.C. 308, 321, 656 S.E.2d 382, 389 (Ct. App. 2007).

Plaintiff's entire Complaint is premised on the Statement meaning that Appellant had a sexual relationship with H. Collier. Appellant cites numerous definitions in her Complaint about

the definition of “inappropriate contact” and “inappropriate relationship.” However, Appellant concedes that the Statement is not a defamatory statement on its face because he admits that H. Collier denied that the relationship was sexual, but when the Statement was conveyed by Dr. Jimmerson to Shaler, it was then misinterpreted to mean something worse. (R. 68, ¶ 72, 74, 93, and 96). Therefore, “[i]f the defamatory meaning is not clear unless the hearer knows the facts or circumstances not contained in the statement itself, then the statement is defamatory *per quod*.

In cases involving defamation *per quod*, the plaintiff must introduce facts extrinsic to the statement itself to prove a defamatory meaning on innuendo. *Holtzscheiter v. Thomson Newspapers, Inc.*, 332 S.C. 502, 508-509, 506 S.E.2d 497, 501 (1998). A statement is classified as "defamatory per quod" when the defamatory meaning is not clear unless the hearer knows facts or circumstances not contained in the statement itself, and the plaintiff must introduce extrinsic facts to prove the defamatory meaning. *Erickson v. Jones Street Publishers, L.L.C.*, 629 S.E.2d 653 (S.C. 2006).

Plaintiff cannot get around his admission in his Complaint that Dr. Barry Jimmerson, the “hearer” of the statement, did not believe Plaintiff engaged in a sexual or romantic relationship with Hannah Collier and his admission that Hannah Collier denied to Dr. Jimmerson that the relationship was romantic sexual. The Appellant’s cause of action for defamation ends here – even before you analyze the defenses of opinion, truth, and qualified privilege. If Dr. Jimmerson did not believe the Statement meant that the Plaintiff had a sexual relationship with H. Collier, then Plaintiff cannot prove that Dr. Jimmerson knew facts or circumstances to support the alleged defamatory meaning.

Furthermore, based upon the foregoing, the Court correctly decided this issue as a matter of law, and it was not necessary for this issue to go before a jury.

Defamatory Statement Not Actionable *Per Se*

In addition to being defamatory *per se* or *per quod*, “[a] separate issue is whether the statement is ‘actionable *per se*’ or not. This issue is one of pleading and proof, and is always a question of law for the court.” *Holtzscheiter*, 332 S.C. at 510, 506 S.E.2d at 502. If the defamation is actionable *per se*, the law presumes the defendant acted with common law malice and that the plaintiff suffered general damages. If the defamation is not actionable *per se*, then the plaintiff must plead and prove common law actual malice and special damages. *Holtzscheiter*, 332 S.C. at 510, 506 S.E.2d at 502.

“Slander is actionable *per se* only if it charges the plaintiff with one of five types of acts or characteristics: (1) commission of a crime of moral turpitude; (2) contraction of a loathsome disease; (3) adultery; (4) unchastity; or (5) unfitness in one's business or profession.” *Id.* at 511, 506 S.E.2d at 502. “In all other cases-namely, when slander does not fall into the above-named categories-special damages must be established.” *Id.* at 526, 506 S.E.2d at 510 (Toal, J., concurring). *Parrish v. Allison*, 376 S.C. 308, 322, 656 S.E.2d 382, 389 (Ct. App. 2007).

Therefore, if the defamation is not actionable *per se*, then the plaintiff must plead and prove common law actual malice, that is “the defendant was activated by ill will in what he did, with the design to causelessly and wantonly injure the plaintiff; or that the statements were published with such recklessness as to show a conscious indifference toward plaintiff's reports.” *Holtzscheiter*, 332 S.C. 502, 510, 506 S.E.2d 497, 502.

By Appellant's own admission, subsequent to March 12, 2018, the Statement was misinterpreted by the Church to mean that Appellant had a sexual relationship with Appellant. A

statement's meaning based upon a misinterpretation of the same cannot be actionable *per se* because it does not directly charge the Appellant with one of the five characteristics or acts. Therefore, since the Statement is not actionable *per se*, the Appellant must prove actual malice.

Appellant fails to present facts that support a finding of actual malice. By Appellant's own admission, the Statement was made in private by a member of the Church, H. Collier, to the head pastor, Dr. Jimmerson. As to Smith, even if the Court were to consider the Affidavits submitted after the Court's Order, the Statement was made to two individuals after Appellant was terminated who did not believe that Appellant had a sexual relationship with H. Collier. The facts pled do not provide evidence of ill will by H. Collier or Smith, a desire to purposely injure the Appellant with the Statement, or to publish the Statement with reckless disregard towards Appellant.

In summary, the Statement is not defamatory. It is not defamatory *per se* or *per quod*, neither was it actionable *per se* or made with malice. And the lower Court properly made this determination as a matter of law. This is not an issue for the jury.

#### Qualified Privilege and No Fault in Publication

The Statement is subject to a qualified privilege. If the qualified privilege exists, the claim will fail unless the plaintiff can prove actual malice. *Constant v. Spartanburg Steel Products, Inc.*, 316 S.C. 86, 447 S.E.2d 194, 196 (1994). A qualified privilege is defined as “[a] communication made in good faith on any subject matter in which the person communicating has an interest or duty ... if made to a person with a corresponding interest or duty even though it contains matter which, without this privilege, would be actionable.” *Id.* To maintain the privilege, “[t]he publisher must not wander beyond the scope of the occasion.” *Id.* *Johns v. Amtrust Underwriters, Inc.*, 996 F. Supp. 2d 413, 420 (D.S.C. 2014).

In this case, the Statement was made in good faith, with proper motives, in private, and to the proper party – Appellant’s supervisor, Dr. Jimmerson. Therefore, it qualifies as a privileged communication. It is reasonable that a member of the Church would go to the pastor or other authority within the Church to report behavior they believed was inappropriate, especially when Appellant was in position of authority over H. Collier.

Therefore, because the alleged defamatory statement is privileged, Appellant must prove the statement was made with actual malice. As set forth above, Appellant fails to plead facts sufficient to meet the standard that the Statement was made with actual malice.

Based upon the foregoing, Appellant’s cause of Defamation must be dismissed pursuant to Rule 12(c), *SCRCP*.

(B) Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress

To recover for intentional infliction of emotional distress, the complaining party must establish that (1) the defendant intentionally or recklessly inflicted severe emotional distress, or was certain, or substantially certain, that such distress would result from his conduct; (2) the conduct was so “extreme and outrageous” so as to exceed “all possible bounds of decency” and must be regarded as “atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized community;” (3) the actions of the defendant caused plaintiff’s emotional distress; and (4) the emotional distress suffered by the plaintiff was “severe” such that “no reasonable man could be expected to endure it.” *Hansson v. Scalise Builders of S.C.*, 374 S.C. 352, 356, 650 S.E.2d 68, 70 (2007).

H. Collier made the Statement to Dr. Jimmerson in private and advised Dr. Jimmerson that she did not want Appellant to get in trouble. Again, according to Appellant, Dr. Jimmerson did not believe that the relationship was sexual. Smith allegedly made the Statement to third parties. Smith did not state or imply that the relationship was sexual.

Accordingly, Appellants fails to present facts necessary to support that the Statement constitutes conduct that “exceeds all bounds of decency” or was “utterly intolerable.” This cause of action also fails pursuant to Rule 12(c), *SCRCP*.

(C) Civil Conspiracy

The elements of a civil conspiracy in South Carolina are (1) the combination of two or more people, (2) for the purpose of injuring the plaintiff, (3) which causes special damages. *Cowburn v. Leventis*, 366 S.C. 20, 49, 619 S.E.2d 437, 453 (Ct.App.2005); *see also Peoples Federal Savings & Loan Ass'n of S. Carolina v. Resources Planning Corp.*, 358 S.C. 460, 470, 596 S.E.2d 51, 56–57 (2004) (“A civil conspiracy is a combination of two or more parties joined for the purpose of injuring the plaintiff and thereby causing special damage.”) (citation omitted). It is essential that the plaintiff prove all of these elements in order to recover. *Lyon v. Sinclair Refining Co.*, 189 S.C. 136, 200 S.E. 78 (1938).<sup>4</sup>

The “essential consideration” in civil conspiracy “is not whether lawful or unlawful acts or means are employed to further the conspiracy, but whether the primary purpose or object of the combination is to injure the plaintiff.” *Lee v. Chesterfield General Hosp., Inc.*, 289 S.C. 6, 13, 344 S.E.2d 379, 383 (Ct.App.1986).

“[I]n order to establish a conspiracy, evidence, direct or circumstantial, must be produced from which a party may reasonably infer the joint assent of the minds of two or more parties to the prosecution of the unlawful enterprise.” *Island Car Wash, Inc. v. Norris*, 292 S.C. 595, 601, 358 S.E.2d 150, 153 (Ct.App.1987); *accord Cowburn*, 366 S.C. at 49, 619 S.E.2d at 453. *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 566–67, 633 S.E.2d 505, 511 (2006).

---

<sup>4</sup> Recently, the Court abolished the rule requiring proof of “special damages” in a civil conspiracy claim. *See Paradis v. Charleston County School District*, 2021 WL 3668152 (2021).

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